
   

 

The Evolution in Medical Practice -   voluntary hospitals 

 

Convalescents at Howgill Infirmary in 1925  

Across the county, as the 1800s passed by, a range of  Voluntary Hospitals, Cottage and 
Specialist Hospitals, Poor Law Infirmaries, Hospitals for Infectious Diseases and Asylums met 
the needs of the general population, the precise type being determined by local 
circumstances. Charitable institutions funded by voluntary contributions were able to offer 
help to the poor although their services did not extend to all diseases or mental illness.  

 

19th century voluntary hospital provision in 3 institutions in Whitehaven 

The front of Howgill Infirmary in 1925  

Ref.  DH 194, DH 304 and SSB 4/155/2 (Whitehaven Record Office) 
Ellerbeck Fever Hospital, Workington 

Unlike voluntary hospitals, fever hospitals were often funded by municipal 
authorities, in response to public fear about epidemics of infectious diseases. 
Intended to isolate patients they were usually found outside towns, such as at 
               Ellerbeck near Workington. 
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The Evolution in Medical Practice -  Kendal Dispensary 

 

Kendal Dispensary opened on 1 January 1783 in a building on Lowther Street adjacent to Gawith’s 
Snuff Factory.   

After the Dispensary closed arrangements were made for the 
disposal of instruments, stock and premises.  Mr Fisher, former 
house surgeon, bought some of the drugs.    The instruments 
‘being very valuable ‘ were to be ‘preserved from rust , or otherwise 
spoiling’ and made available for use by any surgeons in the town. 

Regulations, 1832 Ref. WDEC 5 A1  and   
List of patients, January 1839 Ref. WDEC 5 A 1  

Kendal Dispensary  copyright AR Nicholls  

The premises are said to have comprised the doctor’s residence, the surgery and the dispensing 
room.  The door into the dispensing room was at the upper end of the building and  
was separated from the waiting room by a wooden screen, at the further end of which  
was a recess in which the patient stood to hand in his ticket,  
through a little aperture, and received the dispensed items  
in return. The door into the Doctor’s residence was in  
the lower end of the building.  The way into the  
surgery was through the waiting room, the door  
into it being opposite the one from the street. 
 

It closed in 1848, because Poor Law Union  
medical officers were then providing medical  
support to the poor. 
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The Evolution in Medical Practice -  Specialist Hospitals 

 

As modern nursing continued to develop in the 19th and 20th century, specialist hospitals were 
built.  Examples of such hospitals in the south of the County are the Westmorland (Meathop) 
Tuberculosis Sanatorium and the Ethel Hedley Orthopaedic Hospital at Windermere. 

Westmorland (Meathop) Sanitorium (extended in 1900) was a Sanitorium for the free treatment of the 
poor suffering from TB.  It was located in 52 acres of grounds, as well as conventional wards it also 
included treatment rooms and 2 bedded purpose -built shelters designed to admit therapeutic fresh air 
for patients well enough to be off the wards.   

 

Ref.  WTHOS 2 (Kendal Record Office) 

 Westmorland (Meathop)  
Tuberculosis  
Sanitorium 
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The Evolution in Medical Practice -  Specialist Hospitals 

 

Information amongst the records held by 
Cumbria Archive Service tells us that 
this hospital opened after the 1st World 
War as an orthopaedic hospital for the 
children of Cumberland, Westmorland 
and North Lancashire.   
 
By 1924 there were 50 beds.   
 
The hospital had its own school 
which was taken over by the 
Ministry of Education in 1949.  
At this date it had 6 teaching 
staff.  The children took part in 
a normal school routine despite 
their mobility difficulties.  There 
was a full time physiotherapist, 
resident doctor and visiting 
surgeons. 

Staff were keen to entertain the children at 
sports days and other events 
 
Ref:  WTHOS 3/35,39,41(Kendal Record Office) 

Ethel Hedley Orthopaedic 
Hospital for Children, 
Windermere 

As with all hospitals, record keeping was extremely 
important.  Registers were kept relating to many 
things, including plaster casts and boots needed after 
surgery and drugs used during operations. 


